Ŋ	AD-A14	43 766	ART Con And	IFICIA TROL 9 AFRO9	AL INTI SYSTEMS	ELLIGE 5(U) P ENGINE	NCE TH RINCET FRIN	IEORY I	RND RE IV NJ STENG	CONFIG DEPT O	URABLE F MECH JUN 84	ANICAL	1/	1
Ħ	UNCLAS	SIFIE	D MAE	-1664	AR0-20	9155.1	-NA DA	18629-8	84-K-0	048	F/G 5	5/1	NL	
	I.		·											
														-



•

۰.

MICROCOPY RESOLUTION TEST CHART NATIONAL BUREAU OF STANDARDS 1963 A

ARU 20155.1-MA

Princeton University

AD-A143 766

•

1664-MAE

ARTIFICIAL INTELLIGENCE THEORY AND RECONFIGURABLE CONTROL SYSTEMS

Robert F. Stengel

June 30, 1984



Department of Mechanical and Aerospace Engineering

the product of the books compressional the product of the sector of the books of the sector of the s

04

DTIC

7.30 0 1 1984



1664-MAE

ARTIFICIAL INTELLIGENCE THEORY AND RECONFIGURABLE CONTROL SYSTEMS

Robert F. Stengel

June 30, 1984

Interim Technical Report U.S. ARMY RESEARCH OFFICE Contract No. DAAG29-84-K-0048

PRINCETON UNIVERSITY Department of Mechanical and Aerospace Engineering Princeton, NJ 08544

> Approved for Public Release; Distribution Unlimited

Accession For	7
NTIS GRA&I	
DIIC TAB	
	1
By	
I provide the second second	-
Twill Stir Dates	
	DTIC
Dist Spreig1	
	IN PECC.

THE VIEW, OPINIONS, AND/OR FINDINGS CONTAINED IN THIS REPORT ARE THOSE OF THE AUTHOR(S) AND SHOULD NOT BE CONSTRUED AS AN OFFICIAL DEPARTMENT OF THE ARMY POSITION, POLICY, OR DECISION, UNLESS SO DESIGNATED BY OTHER DOCUMENTATION.

ABSTRACT

'A program for the analytic and experimental investigation of reconfigurable control systems is described. Its principal objectives are to extend the theory of artificial intelligence and to develop practical methods of applying artificial intelligence heuristics, statistical hypothesis testing, and modern control theory to the reconfiguration of control systems following sensor failures, actuator failures, power supply or transmission failures, or unforeseen changes in dynamic characteristics. Objectives include the definition of typical failure modes and effects; formulation and investigation of algorithms for detection, identification, estimation, and control; numerical simulation of failure and reconfiguration; and experimentation using a microprocessor-based reconfigurable control system.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	ABSTRACT	1
1.	INTRODUCTION	1
	1.1 Statement of the Problem	1
	1.2 Background	3
	1.3 Program of Research	8
2.	TECHNICAL DISCUSSION	10
	2.1 Basic Concepts in Artificial Intelligence	11
	2.2 Failure Modes and Effects	15
	2.3 Control Operation and Reconfiguration	18
	2.4 Artificial Intelligence, Fault Detection, and Identification	20
3.	CONCLUSION	24
	REFERENCES	25

LIST OF FIGURES

1.	Venn Diagram	of	Interdisciplinary	Issues	and	Expertise	4
2.	Overview of t	the	Baseline Control (Configur	atio	on	11

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 STATEMENT OF THE PROBLEM

Performance, reliability, and survivability are characteristics that should be possessed by control systems of all types, especially those used in helicopters, tilt-rotor vehicles, and conventional aircraft. The ability to complete the mission is essential to a military aircraft's deployment, and while the increasing use of digital systems will do much to achieve these goals, increased reliance is being placed upon these systems to perform flight critical and flight crucial functions. The penalties for system failure are severe, so it is desirable to design such systems from the beginning for fault tolerance.

As is well known, fault-tolerant systems must either be "robust" or "reconfigurable", if not both. In the first instance, changes in the system's overall input-output characteristics are reduced by feedback control, and judicious choice of the feedback gains minimizes the system's sensitivity to parameter variations, measurement errors, and disturbance inputs. The **degree of failure** that can be accomodated by a fixed control structure is necessarily more restricted than that of a variable control structure. In the second case, the system must provide

- Fault Detection
- Fault Identification
- Control Reconfiguration

to maintain acceptable (if not satisfactory) performance. A system that is fault tolerant through an ability to reconfigure is, in some sense, adaptive and redundant. It is adaptive because

the control structure that is best for the nominal configuration may have to be adjusted for off-nominal operation, as results from loss or degradation of sensors, actuators, and power supplies, damage to signal and power transmission channels, or unexpected alteration of the aircraft's structural and aerodynamic configuration. Its redundancy can be implemented with hardware or software. Hardware redundancy implies parallel measurements; software ("analytic") redundancy implies flexible state estimation and control laws. In both cases, redundancy improves reliability only if the system can adjust to minimize or eliminate the effects of the failure, either implicitly or explicitly. Voting or averaging schemes overpower the failed unit implicitly, while those that identify and remove the failed unit solve the problem through explicit knowledge of cause and effect, applying artificial intelligence to reconfigure the system.

Intelligence -- "the general mental ability involved in calculating, reasoning, perceiving relationships and analogies, learning quickly, storing and retrieving information, using language fluently, classifying, generalizing, and adjusting to new situations", according to The New Columbia Encyclopedia -- certainly would appear to have its place in reconfiguring a control system following failure, although some elements of the definition seem more appropriate for the study of linguistics than engineering. Nevertheless, the formalism of linguistics -- including the identification of rules of inference and the hierarchical relationship between morphemes (sounds), words, syntax (structure), and semantics (meaning) -- may have parallels that can be exploited in the control problem. There are numerous instances in which human pilots have applied their own intelligence to revise control strategies, having perceived system damage or failure. To the extent that symbols and perceptions reflect knowledge and its

interpretation, there is an analogy to detection, identification, and estimation. "Artificial" intelligence (perhaps better called "machine" intelligence) seeks to quantify the heuristic processes of human intelligence, so the theory forms a natural bridge to fault detection and identification in highly critic l control systems.

Of course, fault detection and identification are only parts of the solution to the problem. Having attained knowledge, it is necessary to act on that knowledge, to supplement mind with muscle, so to speak. In that regard, the chosen schema for control must have sound foundations in the physics of the problem, and there must be sufficient control "power" to effect the solution. Furthermore, it is necessary to **demonstrate** the process end-toend, due to the flight critical/crucial nature of control.

1.2 BACKGROUND

Research in artificial intelligence (AI) and fault-tolerant control is relatively new, as the computational tools, sensors, and actuators that make these concepts useful did not exist a few decades ago. Possible relationships between artificial intelligence, control theory, and a third field -- operations research -- are sketched in a Venn diagram (Fig. 1) taken from {1}. There it is suggested not only that these are overlapping areas of concern but that the coupling of these concepts is essential to the effective use of any one of them. In the context of reconfigurable control, the operations research function can be subsumed in the control design function, which necessarily requires physical modeling for the development of estimator/controller gains and structures.



Figure 1. Venn Diagram of Interdisciplinary Issues and Expertise. (from {1})

In spite of the natural affinity between intelligence and control, it appears that little, if any, attention has been directed to applying artificial intelligence to fault tolerant control, so independent paths must be charted in any literature search. The principal exception to this finding is in the area of learning control (also called self-organizing or intelligent control) {2-7}, which does have a number of similarities to reconfigurable control, and which might be distinguished from adaptive (or self-tuning) control by the implied breadth of possibilities for altering the control structure. The main distinction to be drawn between learning and reconfigurable control is that the former places emphasis on "determining how to do things right", while the latter emphasizes "deciding what to do when things go wrong"! There is a difference in the time scale, dimensionality, and precision of

on "determining how to do things right", while the latter emphasizes "deciding what to do when things go wrong"! There is a difference in the time scale, dimensionality, and precision of objectives that should have a major effect on feasible control structures. Nevertheless, developments in learning and adaptive control may prove helpful in the present project.

For the most part, current writings on artificial intelligence deal with natural language processing, expert consulting systems, theorem proving, combinatorial and scheduling problems, perception problems, automatic programming, robotics, and data-base retrieval {1}. They elaborate on reduction of heuristic-symbolic problem statements to algorithmic-numeric models, on search algorithms, and on learning and training {8-14}. Some of the concepts that are pertinent to the reconfigurable control problem are the following:

- Hierarchical representation, interpretation, and goal structure
- Tree search with refinement (pruning and reordering)
- Hypothesis testing, pattern recognition, and template matching
- Rules of inference, default reasoning, and problem-solving paradigms
- Propositional (or predicate) calculus
- Knowledge-based systems and corresponding symbol structures
- Adaptation and strategies for resolution

Reference to human intelligence characteristics {15-17} is an underlying factor in many of these treatments, and the characterization of heuristic symbols and systems as "fuzzy sets" and "fuzzy automata" have their parallels in stochastic optimal

Although hierarchical representations will have utility in reconfigurable control, not all such structures and theories apply to the problem. Conventional **large-scale systems theory**, though related, really addresses different issues. Typically, a complex system is decomposed into essentially decoupled subsystems, and decentralized control algorithms are developed (19). It is assumed that the loosely coupled controllers then operate in parallel. Although the reconfigurable flight control system may present a wealth of control-structural hypotheses, it is not necessarily "large scale" in the same sense: at any given time, the objective is to identify and execute the best single control strategy for the entire system.*

Not surprisingly, the literature on fault-tolerant control is more directly applicable to the problem at hand. As mentioned previously, the notions of robustness {20-22}, parallel redundancy {23-30}, and analytic redundancy {30-34} have been investigated, and self-tuning regulators (35-39) should be added to this list. There is not room here to address these accomplishments in detail. Instead, we might ponder what remains to be done as an introduction to the current program. It should be added that improved computer reliability is a separate issue that is not addressed here.

There appear to be seven areas of fault-tolerant control needing additional analytic and experimental research:

* The "best single control strategy" may admit the usual decoupling of longitudinal and lateral-directional flight control under many circumstances.

- Aerodynamic and structural alterations due to damage or failure
- Actuator failure
- Power supply and transmission failure
- Multiple component failure
- Intermittent failure and random bias shift
- Multi-microprocessing for real-time, on-board analytic redundancy
- Operation in heavy turbulence

In addition, continued development and demonstration of sensor failure detection and identification is warranted.

The problems associated with power supply and transmission failure are more critical than the loss of a single actuator, as several control effectors performing different functions may be lost at once. Nevertheless, such failures are relatively common in non-combat service, and battle damage can induce catastrophic loss of control in otherwise flyable aircraft. The related issue of generic multiple failures should be studied. Concurrent multiple failures often are ground-ruled out in the planning stage, yet these are the type most likely to cause trouble. (Many single-point failures are not catastrophic, allowing the pilot to continue the mission or return to base within a reduced flight envelope.) Intermittent sensor failures and random bias shifts should not cause instruments to be taken off line for the duration of the flight. If such units "heal" or if their new biases are identified, they should be returned to active status, and logic must be developed for this purpose. Fault detection and identification of all control system elements could be affected adversely by heavy turbulence, so algorithms that withstand this environment are required.

1.3 PROGRAM OF RESEARCH

The research program begins with a failure-modes-andanalysis based upon helicopter and aircraft characteristi jected for the 1990s. It will continue with the defini AI-based multiprocessor algorithms for reconfigurable cont with the design of experiments for such systems. These c will be explored in all-digital and hybrid simulation. A processor reconfigurable control system will be construcprogrammed for testing in hybrid simulation. The work to ducted can be summarized as follows:

Preliminary Development

- Specification of baseline dynamic characteristics
- Failure modes and effects analysis
- Review of applicable artificial intelligence theory
- Initial selection of fault detection and identif (FDI) approach
- Initial selection of reconfigurable control approach
- Development of all-digital numerical simulation
- Specification of hybrid simulation experiments
- Hardware specification, assembly, and checkout

Detail Development

- Algorithm research, development, and refinement
- System coding:
 - Primary estimation and control
 - Executive program and I/O interfaces
 - Experimental logic
 - Sensor FDI

- Actuator FDI
- Power supply and transmission FDI

- Aerodynamic and structural FDI
- Multiple and intermittent FDI

Experimentation

.....

1

- All-digital simulation experiments
- Hybrid simulation experiments:
 - Reconfigured estimation and control
 - Sensor FDI
 - Actuator FDI
 - Power supply and transmission FDI
 - Aerodynamic and structural FDI
 - Control reconfiguration with sensor failures
 - Control reconfiguration with actuator failures
 - Control reconfiguration with power supply and transmission failures
 - Control reconfiguration with aircraft and structural failures
 - Control reconfiguration with multiple failures
 - Control reconfiguration with intermittent failures
 - Control reconfiguration in turbulence

2. TECHNICAL DISCUSSION

This section introduces technological foundations of the project. Expert systems, production systems, and an example are discussed first (Sections 2.1), in order that the functions to be implemented and evaluated can be viewed in proper perspective. Similarly, failure modeling for computational and flight experiments (Section 2.2) provides insights on the reconfigurable control system's operation. The overall system operation is discussed in Section 2.3, and a basic methodology for fault detection and identification incorporating artificial intelligence concepts appears in Section 2.4.

An overview of the baseline aircraft-control configuration is shown in Fig. 2. The primary estimation and control logic has a conventional structure, as might be found in an LQG or classical controller-observer implementation. The same sensors that provide information for this logic drive the failure detection, identification, and reconfiguration logic. The pilot can request specific tests or restart the logic, as required. This feature is necessary for detecting failures in the pilot's cockpit controls, and it provides a means of augmenting the system's artificial intelligence with the human kind.

It is most appropriate to identify the subject area as knowledge engineering, which Feigenbaum defines as "bringing the principles and tools of AI research to bear on difficult applications problems requiring experts' knowledge for their solution"(40). Specific technical issues of control are important in the definition of "intelligent agents" of the expert and/or production systems, but it is anticipated that AI formalisms will have synergistic effects in control system design.



Figure 2. Overview of the Baseline Control Configuration

2.1 BASIC CONCEPTS IN ARTIFICIAL INTELLIGENCE

Expert Systems - Expert systems are knowledge-based problemsolving programs that attempt to use heuristics and facts as experts use them. The tasks and requirements of such systems can

be identified as in {41}:

Task	Requirements
Interpretation	Correct, consistent, complete
	analysis of data
Diagnosis	Fault finding
Monitoring	Recognition of alarm conditions
Prediction	Reasoning about time,
	forecasting the future
Planning	Defining and achieving goals
	within constraints and priorities
Design	Same as "Planning"

All of these are important in the context of reconfigurable control systems, but there is a need to go beyond the stated requirements because interpretation, diagnosis, monitoring, prediction, and planning must be used to redesign (or reconfigure) the control system in "real time", i.e., with negligible delay. The common issues of large solution spaces, tentative reasoning, time-varying systems, and "errorful" data must be addressed using probabilistic or pseudo-probabilistic models of the controlled system and its failed states.

The expert system offers an improved formalism for failure detection, identification, and reconfiguration (FDIR) through

- Use of specialized data and solution structures
- Compilation of knowledge
- Transformations of knowledge into efficient axiomatic frames

Whereas previous FDIR algorithms have used a single, generalized representation of failure hypotheses, e.g., a bank of parallel

Kalman filters, an expert system can consider diverse data sources and subproblem abstractions. While some failure indicators may be continuous variables generated by Kalman filters, others may be discrete variables from finite-state models. Each of these indicators can be considered the output of a "production", as defined below. In effect, the expert system can be tuned to accept such information in a balanced way, minimizing the possibility of unnecessary computation.

Production Systems - A production system uses procedures (or productions) to generate actions predicated on a data base{11}. Each production has a unique input-output characteristic that produces certain goal conditions from initial conditions. In the cleanest case, each production is independent of every other production; however, in many situations, there is coupling between productions. Consequently, conflicts occur and must be resolved, sometimes requiring logic for back-tracking and reevaluation. A production system can be considered an expert system if its productions capture the heuristics of experts.

For an AI-based reconfigurable control system, the productions are computer programs (or procedures or routines) that model the normal and failed characteristics of the controlled system. Thus, the productions may be realizations of differential, difference, algebraic, or transcendental equations that model the sensors, actuators, power systems, and structure of the controlled system. These, in turn, may incorporate physical modeling and statistical estimation to generate failure metrics, which are processed in response to requests from the executive logic.

Example of Application - A qualitative example of the reconfigurable control system implementation can be given for

clarification. Consider a generic jet aircraft of modern design. Its control effectors are highly redundant, including

- Elevator
- Rudder
- Ailerons
- Spoilers
- Flaps
- Slats
- Trim Tabs
- Engine Controls
- Thrust Reversers

Several sub-systems, e.g., landing gear and engine bleed air, have control-like effects on aircraft motion when they are deployed or engaged. Each control effector or sub-system will have a distinctive input signature, consisting of a unique combination of forces and moments that lead to unique translational and rotational accelerations of the aircraft.

Should an effector fail, there are alternate ways of sensing the failure, and each associated detection algorithm forms the basis of an AI production. Knowing the aircraft's dynamic model, the ensuing motions provide input to a production algorithm that determines which input signature has occurred, in turn indicating which effector has failed. The deflection of the effector itself may be measured, leading to an algebraic (or finite-state) production to determine if the effector responds to control com-Similar measurements can be made for the effector's power mands. system leading to yet another production. Because each of these indicators is subject to failure, there is uncertainty as to whether or not а failure actually has occurred. А

knowledge-based production system then assesses the probability (or pseudo-probability) of a failure, and the expert system decides what adjustments should be made to the control system configuration. For example, if the rudder has failed to its null position, the ailerons and spoilers may be commanded using different control gains or feedback paths. If a left wing slat has failed "down" (while the right slat still is "up"), the ailerons can be commanded to counteract the rolling torque that results. Each failure mode of each effector is modeled by an AI production, and other failure/damage types are treated in like fashion.

2.2 FAILURE MODES AND EFFECTS

This section describes the modeling and simulation of failures in an aircraft's flight control system and in the aircraft itself. For purposes of discussion, consider a nonlinear differential equation model of the baseline aircraft (to be simulated),

$$\underline{x}(t) = \underline{f}[\underline{x}(t), \underline{u}(t), \underline{w}'(t)], \quad \underline{x}(0), = \underline{x}_0$$
 (2.2-1)

where

$$\mathbf{x} = \left[\nabla \alpha \beta \mathbf{p} \mathbf{q} \mathbf{r} \theta \phi \right]^{\mathrm{T}}$$
(2.2-2)

$$\underline{u} = \begin{bmatrix} \delta_1 & \dots & \delta_m \end{bmatrix}^{\mathrm{T}}$$
(2.2-3)

The m control effectors represent conventional and unconventional devices, and they may be redundant, i.e., more than enough to assure complete controllability in both structural and qualitiative senses. Equation 2.2-1 can include the effects of closedloop control, although that is neglected in this brief discussion. The system observation equation is

C

$$z(t) = h[x(t), u(t), w'(t), v'(t)]$$
(2.3-4)

where $\underline{v}'(t)$ represents an error process. At trimmed equilibrium, denoted by (.)*,

$$0 = f[x^*, u^*, w'^*]$$
(2.2-6)

Perturbations from the trimmed condition, $\Delta(.)$, can be modeled by linear differential and algebraic equations:

$$\Delta \dot{\mathbf{x}}(t) = F\Delta \mathbf{x}(t) + G\Delta \mathbf{u}(t) + L\Delta \mathbf{w}(t), \quad \Delta \mathbf{x}(0) = \Delta \mathbf{x}_{0} \qquad (2.2-6)$$

$$\Delta \underline{z}(t) = C\Delta \underline{x}(t) + D\Delta \underline{u}(t) + E\Delta \underline{v}(t) \qquad (2.2-7)$$

$$0 = F\Delta x^* + G\Delta u^* + L\Delta w^* \qquad (2.2-8a)$$

or

$$\Delta \underline{x}^{*} = -F^{-1}(G\Delta \underline{u}^{*} + L\Delta \underline{w}^{*})$$
 (2.2-8b)

The model can be expanded to include actuator, sensor, and computation dynamics.

The types of failures to be considered are the following:

- Sensor failures
- Actuator failures
- Power supply and transmission failures
- Aerodynamic and structural damage or failures

The device and system failure modes include,

- Null failure
- Hardover failure
- Runaway failure
- Random process failure
- Random bias failure
- Intermittent failure

while aircraft damage or failure can be modeled as a discrete change in dynamic (F,G) characteristics.

It is apparent that all of these failure types and modes can be modeled by modifications to eq. 2.2-6 to 2.2-8. Null failures of the sensors zero the appropriate columns of (C,D,E), while null actuator failures zero the columns of G. The latter affects both dynamic response and trim equilibrium. Hardover, runaway, and random failures in sensors and actuators are modeled by Δy and Δy , respectively. Power supply and transmission failures interrupt the operation of sensor and actuator groups; therefore, a number of matrix columns will be zeroed in this instance. Intermittent failures simply require the above effects to be switched on and off.

When the baseline configuration includes closed-loop control, i.e., use of the measurements (eq. 2.2-7), the simulation is more complex but still well-defined. The structure of the baseline control law must be simulated, with the failures injected accordingly.

2.3 PRIMARY CONTROL OPERATION AND RECONFIGURATION

The baseline configuration will be assumed to have a primary digital estimation and control system whose gains and parameters will be modified according to flight condition and failure state. For discussion purposes, the primary system will consist of a full-state estimator and a proportional-integral-filter (PIF) control law {42}.

The eighth-order estimator is either block diagonal or blockdiagonally-dominant, reflecting the usual separation into longitudinal and lateral-directional modes, and the number of measurements depends upon the identified failure state of the system. The estimator itself provides analytic redundancy when the operational sensors are fewer than normal. Hardware redundancy management precedes the input of measurements to the estimator, i.e., the functions of analytic and parallel redundancy management are handled separately. Estimator model parameters and

gains are chosen for robustness.

The PIF controller is inherently robust. Assuming that the baseline aircraft operates with conventional command modes for up-and-away flight, there would be four pilot inputs (longitudinal and lateral stick, foot pedals, and throttle); hence, there would be up to four integrators for the command variables. (Assuming that pitch rate and roll rate are command variables, only two "extra" integrators would be required {43}). Up to m low-pass filters can be associated with the control surface commands, although it is likely that the number can be reduced to four under most circumstances, reflecting the usual number of independent controls. Block-diagonal dominance applies, and the number of control commands depend on the failure state.

In normal operation, gains would be scheduled with flight condition; therefore, they would be continually varying. Once a failure is detected and identified, the appropriate gains could be selected, but a sudden switch could produce an unacceptably large transient in the system, particularly if control settings are large. As a consequence, the gains should be "faded" from the old values to the new values over a period of time to be determined by a tradeoff of urgency and smoothness {44}.

2.4 ARTIFICIAL INTELLIGENCE, FAULT DETECTION, AND IDENTIFICATION

Much of artificial intelligence (AI) relates to learning about unknown systems from observations or other evidence in a manner that emulates human thought processes. Tasks performed almost unconsciously by humans can prove quite demanding for machines. Problems deemed too difficult for individuals often are referred to panels of experts, whose combined knowledge is used to form solutions. The questioning of an individual or a panel of experts is analogous to the retrieval of information from a data base. If **rule-based deduction** is used, the process of finding an answer can be called "intelligent", whether human or artificial {11}. An objective of this research is to use rule-based deduction to detect and identify failures, thereby making reconfiguration possible.

Deduction implies searching a hierarchical tree of possibilities. At each node there must be rules and criteria for continuing along a particular branch. In the context of system failures, the **probabilities of each choice conditioned by the available observations** provide a rational set of criteria, and Bayes's rule provides a reasonable selection process. It also is necessary to develop logic which retains more than one possibility in the search long enough to identify possibly subtle hypotheses and which knows when to stop; hence, there is a need for optimal pruning and stopping rules {45}.

AI heuristics will prove most valuable in formulating FDI hierarchical structure and in identifying faults on an inferential basis. In the first instance, all failure/damage modes and effects must be classified and arranged in levels. For example, the hierarchy for failure modes might be

- System
- Function
- Axis

.

.

- Device
- Characteristic

while that for failure effects might be

- Abnormal motion
- Axis
- Forcing function
- Source

In the second case, rules of inference would process a number of observations in a production system to deduce a failure. For example, combined loss of left aileron, loss of air data from sensors mounted on the left wing, and rapid roll rate could infer damage to the left wing. To some extent, this sort of reasoning is invoked in operational systems {46}, although formal connections to AI are not identified and the scope of the application does not include aircraft damage.

The familiar concepts of sequential probability ratio, generalized likelihood ratio, and multiple model testing {31,47-55} have potential application to the actual computations, and reference to the general area of fault-tolerant avionics is warranted {56-62}. It is desirable that a minimum number of full-state estimators be used, with each failure state modeled by, at most, a low-order process or "moving window" estimate of the probability density function (also called the likelihood function) or its logarithm. For example, with the Gaussian assumption, the log likelihood function estimate for the Ath failure hypothesis based on a moving window of N data points can be expressed as

$$L_{A}(k) = (1/N) \sum_{i=k-N+1}^{k} \{ \{ \Delta \underline{z}_{i} - (C \Delta \underline{x}_{i} + \Delta \underline{u}_{i} + E \Delta \underline{w}_{i}) \}_{A}^{T} R_{A}^{-1} [.]$$

where $\Delta \underline{x}$ is the state estimate, R_A is the measurement co matrix associated with the failure state, and \underline{c}_A is a c Then the log likelihood ratio of hypotheses A and B is si

$$L_{AB}(k) = L_{A}(k) - L_{B}(k)$$

and the decision rule is

- $L_{AB}(k) \leq a$, Accept Hypothesis A
- a < $L_{AB}(k)$ < b, Accept previous hypothesis
- $L_{AB}(k) \ge b$, Accept Hypothesis B

The process is made efficient by defining failure signat each hypothesis {31}.

The hierarchical approach suggests that differing types be processed separately and that a minimal amount o tation be carried out at any given time. Accordingly, th separates sensor FDI, which can be associated with the ai outputs, from actuator/aircraft FDI, which can be associa control inputs and dynamic response characteristics. In (unfailed) state, it may be sufficient to carry two hyp the system is failed or not. On detecting that an unspecified failure has occurred, the logic expands the number of hypotheses to determine which aircraft axes are involved. On determining the axes, the hypotheses associated with unfailed axes are dropped, and more specific hypotheses related to systems and individual components are brought on line.

C

All FDI results would be broadcast over a data bus so that appropriate adjustments can be made. For example, once a particular sensor is declared failed, this information would be used to reconfigure the primary estimation logic and to modify the actuator/aircraft FDI logic.

3. CONCLUSION

A concept and program for applying artificial intelligence theory to improving the fault tolerance of control systems has been described. The concept includes both subjective and objective logic for detecting failures, identifying failed components, and reconfiguring control paths to maintain acceptable performance. The program is directed at realizing the concept through analysis, system design, hardware implementation, and experimental evaluation. Program results will have fundamental application to the formulation of future control structures.

REFERENCES

- Heer, E., "Automated Decision Making and Problem Solving, Vol. I - Executive Summary", NASA CP-2180, 1981.
- Saridis, G.N., "Intelligent Control Systems", in "Vol. II -Conference Presentations", NASA CP-2180, 1981.
- 3. Saridis, G.N., "Facts and Fiction of Learning Systems", in "Systems Reliability Issues for Future Aircraft", NASA CP-003, 1975.
- Fu, K.S., "Learning Control Systems Review and Outlook", IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control, Vol. AC-15, No. 1, Feb 1970.
- 5. Sklansky, J., "Learning Systems for Automatic Control", IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control, Vol. AC-11, No. 1, Jan 1966.
- 6. Tsypkin, Y.Z., Adaptation and Learning in Automatic Systems, Academic Press, New York, 1971.
- 7. Mendel, J.M., "Applications of Artificial Intelligence Techniques to a Spacecraft Control Problem", NASA CR-755, 1967.
- 8. Artificial Intelligence, North-Holland Publishing Co., Amsterdam.
- 9. IEEE Transactions on Pattern Recognition and Machine Intelligence.
- Minsky, M.L., Artificial Intelligence, McGraw-Hill Book Co., New York, 1972.

- 11. Nilsson, N.J., Principles of Artificial Intelligence, Tioga Publishing Co., Palo Alto, 1980.
- Banerji, R.B., Artificial Intelligence, North-Holland Publishing Co., Amsterdam, 1980.
- 13. Findler, N.V., and Meltzer, B., Artificial Intelligence and Heuristic Programming, American Elsevier Publishing Co., Inc., New York, 1971.
- 14. Boden, M.A., Artificial Intelligence and Natural Man, Basic Books, Inc., New York, 1977.
- 15. Ferrell, W.R., "Human Performance Characteristics in Relation to Automated Decision Making and Problem Solving", in NASA CP-2180, 1981.
- 16. Hartman, B.O., "Higher Mental Functioning in Operational Environments", AGARD-CP-181, Apr 1976.
- Patton, R.M., et al, "Applications of Research on Human Decision Making", NASA SP-209, 1970.
- 18. Zadeh, L., "Fuzzy Sets", Information & Control, Vol. 8, No. 3, June 1965.
- 19. Speyer, J.L., "Decentralized Stochastic Control", in NASA CP-2180, 1981.
- 20. Ackermann, J., "Robust Control System Design", in "Fault Tolerance Design and Redundancy Management Techniques", AGARD-LS-109, Sept 1980.

- 21. Harvey, C.A., and Pope, R.E., "Insensitive Control Technology Development", NASA CR-2947, Feb 1978.
- 22. Pope, R.E., "Multivariable Analysis and Design Techniques", AGARD-LS-117, Sept 1981.
- 23. Folkesson, K., "Computer Based In-Flight Monitoring", in AGARD-LS-109, Sept 1980.

- 24. Labarrere, M., "Detection de Panne de Capteurs d'Avion par Utilization de la Redondance Analytique", in AGARD-LS-109, Sept 1980.
- 25. Szalai, K.J., **et al**, "Flight Experience with Flight Control Redundancy Management", in AGARD-LS-109, Sept 1980.
- 26. Blair, J.D., et al, "Digital Flight Control Redundancy Management System Development Program", AFFDL-TR-79-3050, May 1979.
- 27. McGough, J., et al, "Digital Flight Control System Redundancy Study", AFFDL-TR-74-83, July 1974.
- 28. Losq, J., "Modeling and Reliability of Redundant Digital Systems", Stanford Ph.D. Thesis, Feb 1975.
- 29. Amies, G.E., and Clark, C., "Survivable Flight Control System. Studies, Analysis, and Approach", AFFDL-TR-71-20, May 1971.
- 30. Deckert, J.C., et al, "Reliable Dual-Redundant Sensor Failure and Identification for the NASA F-8 DFBW Aircraft", NASA CR-2944, Feb 1978.

- 31. Willsky, A., "Failure Detection in Dynamic Systems", in AGARD-LS-109, Sept 1980.
- 32. Cunningham, T.B., "Failure Management Techniques for High Survivability", in AGARD-LS-109, Sept 1980.
- 33. Boudreau, J.A., and Berman, H., "Dispersed and Reconfigurable Digital Flight Control Systems", AFFDL-TR-79-3125, Dec 1979.
- 34. Maybeck, P.S., "Failure Detection through Analytic Redundancy", AFFDL-TR-78-105, Sept 1978.
- 35. Åström, K.J, and Wittenmark, B., "On Self Tuning Regulators", Automatica, Vol. 9, No. 2, Mar 1973.
- 36. Athans, M., et al, "Investigation of the Multiple Model Adaptive Control (MMAC) Method for Flight Control", NASA CR-3089, May 1979.
- 37. Hartmann, G.L., **et al**, "F-8C Adaptive Flight Control Laws", NASA CR-2880, Sept 1977.
- 38. Potts, D.W., and D'Azzo, J., "Direct Digital Design Method for Reconfigurable Multivariable Control Laws for the A-7D DIGITAC II Aircraft", in Proceedings of the 1980 NAECON, May 1980.
- 39. Porter, D.S., D'Azzo, J., and Houpis, C.H., "Design and Application of a Multivariable, Digital Controller to the A-7D DIGITAC II Aircraft Model", in Proceedings of the 1981 NAECON, May 1981.

- 40. Feigenbaum, E.A., "The Art of Artificial Intelligence: I. Themes and Case Studies of Knowledge Engineering", Proc. 5th International Joint Conf. Art. Intell., 1977, pp. 1014-1029.
- 41. Stefik, M., et al, "The Organization of Expert Systems", Artificial Intelligence, Vol. 18, No. 2, Mar 1982, pp. 135-174.
- 42. Stengel, R.F., "An Introduction to Stochastic Optimal Control Theory", in "Theory and Applications of Optimal Control in Aerospace Systems", AGARD-AG-251, July 1981.
- 43. Stengel, R.F., "Equilibrium Response of Flight Control Systems", Automatica, Vol. 18, No. 3, May 1982.
- 44. Mrazek, J.G., and Rubertus, D.P., "Considerations in the Design of a Digital Flight Control Function for a High Performance Aircraft", NAECON '74 Record, May 1974.
- 45. Shiryayev, A., Optimal Stopping Rules, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1978.
- 46. Osder, S. "The DC-9-80 Digital Flight Guidance System's Monitoring Techniques", AIAA Paper No. 79-1704, Aug 1979.
- 47. Willsky, A., "A Survey of Several Failure Detection Methods", Automatica, Vol. 12, No. 6, Nov 1976.
- 48. Willsky, A., and Jones, H.L., "A Generalized Likelihood Ratio Approach to the Detection and Estimation of Jumps in Linear Systems", IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control, Vol. AC-21, No. 1, Feb 1976.

- 49. Saridis, G.N., "Application of Pattern Recognition Methods to Control Systems", IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control, Vol. AC-26, No. 3, June 1981.
- 50. Friedland, B. "On the Calibration Problem", IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control, Vol. AC-22, No. 6, Dec 1977.
- 51. Friedland, B., "Maximum-Likelihood Estimation of a Process with Random Transitions (Failures)", IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control, Vol. AC-24, No. 6, Dec 1979.
- 52. Chang, C.B., and Dunn, K.P., "On GLR Detection and Estimation of Unexpected Inputs in Linear Discrete Systems", IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control, Vol. AC-24, No. 3, June 1979.
- 52. Fiorina, M., and Maffezzoni, C., "A Direct Approach to Jump Detection in Linear Time-Invariant Systems with Application to Power System Perturbation Detection", IEEE Transactions on Automatic Cont. J, Vol. AC-24, June 1979.
- 54. Kerr, T.H., "Statistical Analysis of a Two-Ellipsoid Overlap Test for Real-Time Failure Detection", IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control, Vol. AC-25, No. 4, Aug 1980.
- 55. Caglayan, A.K., "Necessary and Sufficient Conditions for Detectability of Jumps in Linear Systems", IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control, Vol. AC-25, No. 4, Aug 1980.
- 56. Jacobsen, M., "Avionics Reliability, Its Techniques and Related Disciplines", AGARD-CP-261, Oct 1979.

- 57. --, "Validation Methods for Fault-Tolerant Avionics and Control Systems", NASA CP-2114, Mar 1979.
- 58. Kurzhals, P.B., "Integrity in Electronic Flight Control Systems", AGARD-AG-224, Apr 1977.
- 59. --, "Impact of Active Control Technology on Aircraft Design", AGARD-CP-157, June 1975.
- 60. Trivedi, K.S., and Clary, J.B., "Validation Methods Research for Fault-Tolerant Avionics & Control Systems", NASA CP-2167, Sept 1980.
- 61. Kant, P., "Advances in Guidance and Control Systems Using Digital Techniques", AGARD-CP-272, Aug 1979.
- 62. Dove, B.L., "Tactical Airborne Distributed Computing and Networks", AGARD-CP-303, Oct 1981.

REPORT DOCUMENTATIO	READ INSTRUCTIONS BEFORE COMPLETING FORM					
REPORT NUMBER	2. GOVT ACCESSION NO	BEGRENT'S CATALOG NUMBER				
	N/A 1170					
TITLE (and Subility)		5. TYPE OF REPORT & PERIOD COVERED				
ARTIFICIAL INTELLIGENCE TH	IEORY AND	Interim Technical Repor-				
RECONFIGURABLE CONTROL SY	FIGURABLE CONTROL SYSTEMS					
		1664-MAE				
	8. CONTRACT OR GRANT NUMBER(a)					
Robert F. Stengel		DAAG29-84-K-0048				
PERFORMING ORGANIZATION NAME AND ADDRE	SS	10. PROGRAM ELEMENT, PROJECT, TASK AREA & WORK UNIT NUMBERS				
D-202 Engineering Quadrang	le					
Princeton, NJ 08544						
CONTROLLING OFFICE NAME AND ADDRESS	<u> </u>	12. REPORT DATE				
U. S. Army Research Office		June 30, 1984				
Post Office Box 12211		13. NUMBER OF PAGES				
MONITORING AGENCY NAME & ADDRESS(If diffe	ont from Controlling Office)	15. SECURITY CLASS. (of this report)				
		Unclassified				
		154. DECLASSIFICATION DOWNGRADING				
		SCHEDULE				
DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the ebetract entere	ed in Block 20, if different fro	a, Report)				
NA NA						
SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES						
The view, opinions, and/or find	ings contained in	this report are				
those of the author(s) and shou	ld not be constru	ed as an official				
	on.	sion, unless so				
KEY WORDS (Continue on reverse side if necessary	and identify by block number)					
Artificial Intelligence; Co	ontrol Systems;	Flight Control;				
Cybernetics; Computer Syste	ems; Systems An	alysis				
ABSTRACT (Continue on reverse side if reconserve	md identify by block number)					
A program for the analyti	c and experime	ntal investigation of				
reconfigurable control syst	ems is describe	ed. Its principal ob-				
to develop practical method	ls of applying	ricial intelligence and				
heuristics, statistical hyr	othesis testin	, and modern control				
theory to the reconfigurati	on of control	systems following sensor				
failures, actuator failures or unforeseen changes in dy	s, power supply namic characte:	or transmission failures ristics. Objectives				
FORM 1473 EDITION OF I NOV 65 IS OBS	OLETE UNCI					

__UNCLASSIFIED

ela a a la a a a

1

SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF THIS PAGE(When Date Entered)

20. Abstract Continued

include the definition of typical failure modes and effects; formulation and investigation of algorithms for detection, identification, estimation, and control; numerical simulation of failure and reconfiguration; and experimentation using a microprocessor-based reconfigurable control system.

. .

UNCLASSIFIED

SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF THIS PAGE(When Date Entered)





